Temperature and Moisture Control of Horticultural Peat Decomposition

by

Isabel Strachan

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of B.Sc. in Geography (Honours)

> Department of Geography McGill University Montréal (Québec) Canada

> > April 2022

© 2022 Strachan

AKNOWLEDGMENTS

I am very grateful to have had the opportunity to undertake this thesis and to have been able to gain experience in conducting my own original research. This thesis was supported in part by a Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC) Undergraduate Student Research Award.

First, I would like to sincerely thank my supervisor, Nigel Roulet, for all of his guidance and assistance with my writing of this thesis. I am truly grateful for his patience in answering all of my questions and concerns at our weekly meetings as well as his advice on academia as a whole. I would also like to thank my reader, Tim Moore, for dedicating his time to provide inputs and helpful suggestions for both my thesis and graduate school. I am very grateful for all of the help provided by Mike Dalva and Paula Kestelman in the laboratory, whose invaluable support in troubleshooting the GC and providing supplies for my experiments made the data collection for my thesis possible. As well, I am extra thankful for the incredible mentorship and guidance provided by Bidhya Sharma throughout my entire project. Her work ethic, patience and kindness are inspiring – I couldn't have done this without you! I would also like to thank my fellow honours cohort for moral support over the entire honours process, and a special thanks to Meryem Upson for being a constant source of support, assistance and friendship as we navigated long days in the GIC working on our theses together. Of course, I would also like to thank my parents and friends for being a reliable source to vent all of my frustrations to over the last year and whose incredible support made this possible.

Finally, thank you to the entire Department of Geography for all of the invaluable training provided to me over the course of my degree and to honours coordinator Sarah Turner for making the program possible.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Figuresiii
List of Tablesiii
Chapter 1: Introduction5
Chapter 2: Literature review7
2.1 Peatlands7
2.2 Peat harvesting
2.3 Horticultural peat amendments9
2.4 Carbon efflux from peatlands and greenhouse gas implications9
2.5 Temperature as a factor for peat decomposition10
2.6 Water saturation as a factor for peat decomposition11
2.7 Research objectives12
Chapter 3: Methodology13
3.1 Study site
3.2 Soil analyses
3.3 Laboratory analyses14
3.4 Isotopic analyses15
3.5 Statistical analyses
Chapter 4: Results17
4.1 Soil properties
4.2 Temperature sensitivities of peat decomposition
4.3 Soil moisture sensitivities of peat decomposition
Chapter 5: Discussion
5.1 Biogeochemical properties of natural and horticultural peat24
5.2 Effect of temperature on CO ₂ flux
5.3 Effect of moisture on CO ₂ flux
5.4 Implications for Canadian horticultural peat practices
Chapter 6: Conclusion
Reference List

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 4.1: Temperature variability of mean unamended and mean amended peat fluxes	.19
Figure 4.2: Q ₁₀ responses for amended and unamended samples	.20
Figure 4.3: Temperature sensitivities of isotopic fractionation for amended peat samples	.21
Figure 4.4: Temperature sensitivities of total lime CO ₂ flux for amended peat samples	.22
Figure 4.5: Moisture variability of mean unamended and mean amended peat fluxes	.23

LIST OF TABLES

Table 4.1: Key biogeochemical properties of unamended and amended peat
samples17
Table 4.2: Mean, median and standard error of Q_{10} values for unamended and amended peat
samples20

ABSTRACT

Peatlands are dominant features of the Canadian landscape and are well-known for their widespread use as a growing media. For use in horticulture, peat is amended with additives to optimize the physical and biogeochemical properties for plant growth. This study investigated how the decomposition rates of horticulturally-amended peat varied with temperature and moisture conditions experienced when peat is used as a growing media. Under changing temperatures, the addition of lime to the horticultural soils decreased the rate of decomposition in amended soils and contributed a secondary carbon pool to the overall CO₂ flux. The effect of changing moisture did not reveal a clear optimal moisture condition for decomposition though showed significant differences between unamended and amended samples. From this, I suggest that it is incorrect to assume a standard temperature and moisture relationship across both natural and horticultural peat types.

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

In their capacity to act as important stocks of carbon, peatlands have received considerable interest due to their role in the global carbon cycle and potential contributions to climate change. The anaerobic conditions present in peatlands slow the decomposition process, creating ideal conditions for carbon to accumulate (Davidson & Janssens, 2006). In Canada, peatlands cover 7.3×10^5 km² of the total landscape, storing approximately 150 Gt C (Bona et al., 2020). However, there is growing concern over peat's contributions to carbon efflux. While the high organic matter content in peat has traditionally been exploited as an energy source globally, peat is extracted for horticulture in Canada. Nationally, 30 900 ha of peatland have been cleared and harvested for economic activities (CSPMA, 2017). Current extraction of peat is done via vacuum harvesting. The surface of the peatland is stripped of existing vegetation, thus modifying the surface land use and subsequent carbon cycling (Glatzel et al., 2004). The extraction process, which generates an emission of CO₂ through the decomposition process, is of particular concern as it constitutes a net source of greenhouse gas emissions to Canada's atmospheric burden (Cleary et al., 2005).

The emissive flux of CO_2 from peatlands is largely governed by two environmental factors: temperature and soil moisture content. The release of CO_2 derives from the root respiration and microbial decomposition of organic matter found in the peatlands, which are sensitive to changing environmental conditions (Davidson & Janssens, 2006). However, it is not known if the general response functions for pristine peatlands apply to extracted peat used in horticulture. There are relatively few studies that combine the effects of both temperature and moisture contents on CO_2 emissions from peatlands in a controlled setting (Kechavarzi et al., 2010). A comparison between the processes in pristine peatlands and extracted peat used for growing media under varying environmental conditions would determine if the rates of mineralization are similar. This is particularly critical for carbon taxing purposes, as Canadian peat companies do not want to be taxed for emissions they are not responsible for.

This study examines how decomposition rates of peat extracted from Quebec peatlands vary with temperature and soil moisture. The range of conditions discussed are normally experienced

when peat is used as growing media and the environmental implications for the Canadian peat industry. In Chapter 2, I will first review the literature on peatlands, peat harvesting practices and how temperature and moisture are key factors for peat decomposition. In Chapter 3, I will explain my methodology, including the laboratory and statistical techniques I utilized. This is followed in Chapter 4, where I will present the results of my temperature and moisture experiments. In Chapter 5, I will discuss the context of my findings, provide possible explanations for the temperature and moisture trends seen in Chapter 4 and elaborate on the implications for Canadian horticultural peat practices. I conclude, in Chapter 6, with a summary of my findings and suggestions for future practices.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Peatlands

Peatland ecosystems are characterized by waterlogged, organic soils consisting of large quantities of partially decomposed organic material wherein the rate of decomposition is much slower than the rate of plant production (Vitt, 1994). Peatlands are largely found in cool climates where precipitation exceeds evapotranspiration such that the cool, anoxic conditions allow for the accumulation of at least 30-40 cm of dominantly organic material (Vitt, 1994). Peat in these landscapes can accumulate to a depth of 1.5 to 2.3m and is unique in the sense that they accumulate in their own substrate (Hugron et al., 2013).

Peatlands are globally important due to their role in the carbon cycle, deriving from their unique ability to accumulate peat. The accumulation of carbon in peat is determined between the difference of primary productivity and decomposition, with the anaerobic conditions characterized by peatlands leading a decrease in decomposition and therefore accumulation of CO₂-derived C (Waddington & Price, 2000). Globally, peatlands occupy 3.8% of the world's icefree land area, with about three quarters found across northern countries (Kivinen and Pakarinen 1981). Canada is home to the largest area of peatlands in the world, representing 12% of the total land area of the country (Gorham, 1991). Canadian peatland soils represent a carbon stock of 150 Gt C, larger than the pools found in both forests and agricultural soils (Roulet, 2000). Within the peatlands themselves, approximately 98.5% of carbon is stored within the peat, with the remaining 1.5% stored in the vegetation (Gorham, 1991). Peatlands in wet climates are typically dominated by Sphagnum mosses across Boreal and subarctic climate zones, representing important stores of sequestered atmospheric carbon (Gorham, 1991). Their role in the carbon cycle, however, is twofold; while they constitute an important store through carbon fixation, peatlands also release considerable amounts of carbon dioxide back into the atmosphere. Peatlands also release methane, an important greenhouse gas with 4-35 times the global warming potential of CO_2 that further contributes to the atmospheric burden (Bridgham et al., 1995). Going forward, the influence of global warming will see modifications to the peatland carbon fluctuations not only directly through increasing temperatures and subsequent greater rates of decomposition, but also via hydrological modifications to the landscape and water table (Gorham, 1991).

2.2 Peat Harvesting

Anthropogenic activity has been known to modify the carbon stock of peatlands and subsequent greenhouse gas exchange with the atmosphere (Roulet, 2000). Peat harvesting results in substantial modification to the landscape and surface-atmosphere interactions; the process of drainage and removal of vegetation has been shown to increase soil respiration leading to a net loss of CO_2 in addition to the loss of carbon sink potential (Roulet, 2000). Of note, during the process of extraction the vegetation is not retained, resulting in a shift in the primary production of the harvested site to zero (Roulet, 2000). As a result of the land-use changes, there have been impacts on greenhouse gas cycling, particularly concerning the exchange of CO_2 with the atmosphere. Once drained, peatlands undergo a shift from a net sink to a net source of carbon (Moore, 1994). The interaction between the surface of peatlands and the atmosphere is governed by the production, consumption and transport of carbon dioxide within the peat profile (Glatzel et al., 2004). These processes, in turn, are further influenced by both temperature, on the basis of microbial activity, and water table position, on the basis of creating aerobic/anaerobic conditions. Presently, there is a gap in knowledge regarding the production potential of CO_2 at harvested peat sites (Glatzel et al., 2004).

Peat harvesting is a common practice globally, most notably across Europe, North America and Asia (Glatzel et al., 2003). The extraction of peat has seen an increase in the second half of the 20^{th} century, owing to a growing demand for its use as a horticultural soil (Waddington & Price, 2000). In Canada, an estimated 0.03% of the 113.6 million ha of peatlands are being actively extracted for horticulture (CSPMA, 2017). Of particular note, in the St. Lawrence Lowland region of Southern Quebec, approximately 70% of peatlands have been harvested (Petrone et al., 2003). In order to extract peat for horticultural use, the soil needs to be drained which ultimately increases the diffusion of oxygen, speeds up the decomposition process and thereby increases the CO₂ efflux from the peatland site (Cleary et al., 2005). Most of the current extraction of peat is done via vacuum harvesting, a process whereby the surface is stripped of existing vegetation thus modifying the surface land use and subsequent carbon cycling (Glatzel et al., 2004). Following this process, the extracted peat surface is free of vegetation for decades (Strack, 2011). This, in

turn, leaves the surface exposed to the forces of wind and water erosion coupled with the effects of temperature fluctuations (Glatzel et al., 2003).

In order to be harvested, peatlands are initially drained via the creation of 1m deep ditches located 30m apart (Petrone et al., 2003). By removing the surface layer of peat, the hydrologic regime of the peatland is altered, influencing the exchange of carbon between the surface and the atmosphere. The modifications to the local carbon exchange of the extracted peatland site are largely a function of change to the local moisture regime, nutrient cycling and vegetation (Petrone et al., 2003).

2.3 Horticultural Peat Amendments

To be used as a growing media, horticultural peat is supplied with additives to optimize the biogeochemical properties and growth rates. Such additives include, but are not limited to, limestone/dolomite, inorganic fertilizers, perlite and surfactants, all of which are added in different proportions and to different ends. In particular, lime has been shown to improve soil conditions by reducing acidity and increasing rates of microbial respiration, thereby modifying net chemical and biological CO₂ emissions (Biasi et al., 2008). However, conventional studies that measure total CO₂ flux measurements in peatland agriculture have neglected to consider carbon derived from lime as part of the overall carbon balance in horticultural soils (Biasi et al., 2008). In order to correctly partition between emissions from peat only, lime-based emissions must also be considered. Stable isotope techniques can be employed to determine the relative contributions of carbon derived from peat and limestone-borne carbon using a two-way mixing model, given the unique isotopic signatures of the two carbon pools (Bertrand et al., 2007).

2.4 Carbon efflux from Peatlands and Greenhouse Gas implications

Given the emissive flux potential of peatlands, there is a growing demand to improve national carbon balance estimates for greenhouse gas budgeting purposes. Altered fluxes of CO_2 are important in considering the total greenhouse effect resulting from the use of peat as a growing media. Currently, only the emissions associated with fossil fuel combustion when used for commercial peat machinery and transport are considered in Canada's greenhouse gas budget

(Cleary et al., 2005). In international estimates, all peat used for horticultural practices is assumed to decompose and be emitted as CO_2 in the year it was extracted. However, empirical evidence suggests that less than 100% of the peat extracted is returned to the atmosphere as CO_2 (Cleary et al., 2005). This has further implications for the Canadian peat industry, as understanding the portion of peat that is mineralized to CO_2 during horticultural practices is critical for carbon taxing purposes. Existing literature has thus far focused on extracted and restored horticultural sites, with little to no knowledge on the processes that govern CO_2 emissions from in situ horticultural extraction.

2.5 Temperature as a factor for peat decomposition

Temperature and moisture content are important factors that regulate the rate of organic matter decomposition in peat via their influence on microbial activity in the soil (Wang et al., 2010). It has, however, been suggested that temperature is a more important factor for carbon mineralization, despite both temperature and moisture working in conjunction to produce CO₂ emissions from peat (Bridgham et al., 1998). As shown by Lloyd and Taylor (1994), when moisture and nutrients are not limiting, carbon mineralization increases in peatlands following an increase in temperature. The release of CO_2 derives from the root respiration and microbial decomposition of organic matter found in the peatlands, which are temperature-sensitive (Davidson & Janssens, 2006). The process of soil respiration itself involves different communities of organisms undergoing a series of chemical reactions, each with varying temperature sensitivities (Lloyd and Taylor, 1994). As a general rule, it is widely accepted that the rate of decomposition of soil organic matter doubles for every 10°C rise in temperature, known as the Q_{10} (Davidson & Janssens, 2006). It is typically assumed that all soil organic matter decomposition has the same temperature sensitivity, though the kinetics of enzymatic reactions have shown to be increasingly sensitive to temperature with increased molecular complexity of the substrates (key nutrients present in the soil for growth and microbial activity) and under varying environmental constraints (Davidson & Janssens, 2006). While certain studies have discussed the influence of soil depth on soil respiration, there remains a general lack of consensus on the relationship between temperature sensitivities and depth at different horizons (Wang et al., 2010).

As suggested by Davidson and Janssens (2006), substrate concentrations may also vary with temperature. With the onset of increasing temperatures, the diffusion of gases and soluble material increases. However, the transport of the soluble carbon substrates in soils may be limited by the general drying out of soils at increased temperatures. This in turn, has the potential to limit microbial respiration in soils given a reduction in available carbon substrates. As a result, the respiration rate may decrease beyond a critical temperature as substrate limitation dominates.

2.6 Water saturation as a factor for peat decomposition

While a number of studies have addressed the importance of temperature as a control on peatland carbon mineralization (Davidson & Janssens 2006; Lloyd & Taylor 1994; Weiping et al. 2014), the influence of moisture content has been less studied. Moisture dependence in soils is understood to modify the oxygen availability in soils, ultimately creating conditions that either favour or slow down the microbial decomposition process that determines the carbon emission from soils. Generally, it is agreed that carbon efflux is higher under drained peatland conditions (Wang et al., 2010). It has also been established that the moisture availability and water table position hold a strong influence on the rate of carbon mineralization in peatland soils (Wang et al., 2010). When extracted, the drainage of the peatlands modifies the moisture levels within the soil. Upon draining, the increased aeration of the soil allows for microbial oxidation to proceed more strongly, speeding up the decomposition process and contributing to the emissive flux of the peatlands (Kechavarzi et al., 2010). The optimal soil moisture content conducive to microbial activity (θ_{max}) has been shown to be slightly above or below the point at which soil respiration decreases (Weiping et al., 2014). The two primary limiting factors to soil microbial respiration are the diffusion of substrates and the diffusion of oxygen, both of which can be constrained by fluctuating soil moisture contents (Kechavarzi et al., 2010). Soil moisture content is also shown to have an effect on root respiration in peatland systems and therefore may work in conjunction with temperature to affect the Q₁₀ values of the peat system including heterotrophic and autotrophic contributions (Weiping et al., 2014).

2.6 Research Objectives

The overarching aim of this research is to investigate how decomposition rates of extracted Quebec peat vary over a range of temperature and soil moisture conditions that would normally be experienced when peat is used as growing media and the environmental implications for the Canadian peat industry. From this, I have 3 objectives:

- 1. To determine the effect of varying temperatures on the decomposition rate of horticultural peat
- 2. To determine the effect of varying soil moisture contents on the decomposition rate of horticultural peat
- 3. To determine if the carbon efflux from horticultural peat follows the same pattern as natural peatlands

From these objectives, the determination of the portion of mineralized carbon from extracted peat that is returned to the atmosphere as CO_2 will have implications for the Canadian peat industry in their efforts to meet environmental sustainability goals.

CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY

In this chapter, I will present the methodology I employed for my analyses. I will first present the study site from which my samples were collected. I will then discuss the methods I used to collect data on the biogeochemical properties of the two soil groups. From there, I will outline the overall set up of my incubation experiments for both temperature and soil moisture. I will further present the methods for my isotopic analyses then conclude with the statistical analyses used to analyze my data.

2.1 Study Site

The samples were collected from a large vacuum-harvesting peat complex located in Rivière-du-Loup, Québec (47°48'21 N, 69°32'55 W). The region is located on the banks of the St. Lawrence River, near the foothills of the Appalachians. The climate of the region is cool temperate, with a mean annual temperature of 4.2°C and a mean annual precipitation of 1124 mm (Environment Canada, 2021).

2.2 Soil Analyses

Samples were categorized as Grade A (best grade) with a von Post index of 1 (undecomposed) and organized into two categories: unamended and amended. Unamended soils refer to the natural state of raw peat without any added amendments. These samples were provided directly from the extraction field. The amended peat samples refer to peat combined with additives, notably lime, for use as a growing media. These samples were provided once they were processed and ready to be shipped to growers. Both types of samples were collected in plastic bags and transported to the laboratory, where they were stored at 4°C until analysis.

The bulk density of the samples was determined by weighing the initial wet mass and then the dry mass after being placed in the oven at 60°C for 24 hours, then calculated from the mass of

the dried soil and the volume of the sample container. The gravimetric soil moisture content (% water) was calculated using the weight loss of the samples and expressed as a percentage of the initial wet mass of the soil. Loss on ignition for carbon content was measured in a muffle furnace at 550°C for 4 hours. Soil pH was measured in triplicates from the oven dried samples using a 1:35 soil: water ratio. C:N ratios were calculated after samples were oven-dried at 60°C for 120h and ground to a fine powder to determine total C and total N values. Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy was employed to determine the humification indices of both sample groups following the methods outlined by Broder et al. (2012).

2.4 Laboratory Analyses

 CO_2 emissions were studied at five different temperatures (5°C, 10°C, 15°C, 20°C, 25°C) using laboratory incubations of peat. The use of five temperature points was to quantify the Q₁₀ value for peat decomposition, requiring variations over 10°C (Davidson & Janssens, 2006). Calculation of a Q₁₀ across a smaller temperature range with a larger step (>5°C) has the potential to affect the fit of the exponential curve and thereby reduce reliability (Li et al., 2021). At each temperature, five replicates were prepared of both unamended and amended samples. For each replicate, the samples were kept at a constant volumetric moisture content of 50% over the course of the temperature experiment.

Soil moisture content was analyzed at five different gravimetric moisture contents (20%, 40%, 60%, 80% and 100%) using the same incubation methods as the temperature experiment. At each soil moisture percentage, all five replicates of both unamended and amended soil samples were kept at a constant 25°C over the course of the experiment.

Laboratory incubations to assess the CO₂ production rates were conducted similarly to Moore and Dalva (1993). For each of the five temperature experiments and five moisture experiments, the preparation and collection of samples took place over a one-week schedule. On day 1, the samples were prepared by placing 5g of soil in a glass Mason jar with the corresponding volume of water to achieve the desired moisture content and left covered (not sealed) in a 4°C fridge for 5 days to allow for the microbial community to adjust to the moisture content, but at a low temperature. At this stage, the height of the peat in the jar as well as the height and diameter of the jar itself was recorded in order to calculate the volume of the headspace. On day 4 of the experiment, the incubator was calibrated to the desired temperature. On day 5 of the experiment, all 10 (5 replicates x 2 conditions (unamended and amended)) incubations were transferred to the incubator. The jars were incubated at constant temperature in a Fisher brand isotemp 37020A incubator over a 48-hour period to minimize emissions related to disturbance. On day 7 of the experiment, the samples were collected and analyzed on the gas chromatograph.

Analyses were conducted on a Shimadzu 2014 Gas Chromatograph equipped with a flame ionization (FID) detector and methanizer. Standards of 0, 356, 2503 and 5000 ppmv CO₂ were employed. Concentrations were determined relative to the standards and corrected for changing headspace volume over time (Moore & Dalva, 1997). 5 ml samples were collected using a syringe at four different times (t_0 , t_1 , t_2 , t_3), each two hours apart. Following each collection, the incubations were backfilled with the same volume of CO₂-free air to maintain the headspace volume.

2.5 Isotopic analyses

For all amended samples of peat, incubation experiments of the 5 replicates at each of the five temperatures (5°C, 10°C, 15°C, 20°C, 25°C) and five moisture conditions (20%, 40%, 60%, 80%, 100%) were sampled for isotopic analyses. 20ml samples were collected using a syringe at four different times (t₀, t₁, t₂, t₃), each two hours apart, and run into a Picarro $\delta^{13}C$ - CO_2 analyzer. As with the other incubation experiments, the amended samples were backfilled with the same volume of CO₂-free air to maintain the headspace volume. The isotopic signature ($\delta^{13}C$) of the CO₂ flux was calculated using the methods outlined by Keeling (1958). The calculation to partition the CO₂ flux into lime and peat-based fluxes for the amended samples was determined by following a two-way mixing model as outlined by Biasi et al. (2008):

$$f = \frac{\delta - \delta_0}{\delta_1 - \delta_0}$$

Where f is the fraction contribution of CO₂ derived from lime to total carbon flux, δ is the isotopic signature of C for amended soils, δ_0 is the isotopic signature of unamended peat and δ_1 is the isotopic signature of lime.

2.6 Statistical Analyses

Statistical analyses were conducted using the Stata statistical software package (IC 15.0, StataCorp LLC, 2015). Linear or best-fit quadratic regressions were used to quantify the strength of the relationships between peat fluxes and changing temperature and moisture values. Regressions with p-values <0.05 were considered as significant. One-way ANOVAs were used to calculate significances between soil properties of the unamended and amended samples. CO_2 emission rates to changing temperature sensitivity (Q_{10}) of CO_2 was determined following Lloyd and Taylor (1994).

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS

In this chapter, I will present the results of my experiments. I will first look at the results of selected key biogeochemical properties of the unamended and horticulturally amended peat samples. I will then present my findings for the temperature experiment, including the Q₁₀ values and isotopic data associated with the amended soil group. I will conclude by presenting the results of my peat moisture sensitivity experiment for both natural peat and when used as a growing media.

4.1 Soil Properties

The unamended and amended peat samples were analyzed for select key biogeochemical properties in the laboratory. A difference of means test revealed significant differences (p < 0.05) (Table 4.1).

Property	Mean	Standard Error	P-value		
SOM (%)					
Unamended	98.9	0.04	0.0495		
Amended	80.1	0.34			
pH					
Unamended	4.3	0.04	0.0495		
Amended	5.9	0.12			
Carbon Content (%)					
Unamended	49.4	0.02	0.0495		
Amended	40.1	0.17			
% Water					
Unamended	40.5	0.57	0.513		
Amended	40.9	0.37			
Density (g/cc)					
Unamended	0.06	0.002	0.0495		
Amended	0.08	0.001	0.0475		
Humification Index					
Unamended	0.47				
Amended	0.65				
C:N Ratio					
Unamended	54.3				
Amended	47.7				

 Table 4.1. Key biogeochemical properties of unamended and amended peat samples

The mean % SOM and carbon content values revealed significant (p=0.0495) differences between the unamended and amended samples. % SOM and carbon content concentrations in unamended samples were significantly larger than in amended samples as a result of minerals added to amended samples. Mean pH was significantly (p=0.0495) lower in the unamended samples due to the addition of calcium carbonate in the amended samples to neutralize acidity. The density of both samples was quite low–largely as a by-product of the mechanical alteration by the harrowing of top peat layer at the collection site - though the amended samples had significantly higher density owing to the addition of denser mineral additives. Water content did not show a significant difference between the two peat types (p=0.513). The humification index, used to assess the degree to which the samples were degraded, was higher for the amended samples as a result of extraction and amendments. The ratio of carbon relative to nitrogen (C:N) was higher for the unamended samples as the more decomposed amended samples lost relatively more carbon through the consumption of carbon-based substances and the release of CO₂ via microbial respiration.

4.2 Temperature sensitivities of peat decomposition

There were significant differences in the behaviour of CO₂ flux in response to increasing temperatures between the unamended and amended samples. The mean amended peat samples exhibited a relatively consistent increase in peat flux with increasing temperature, displaying a linear pattern (Figure 1). In contrast, the unamended samples displayed a more non-linear relationship; the pattern exhibits low initial peat flux values, increasing with greater temperatures. The peat flux relationship for the amended samples was significant (p<0.05) and could explain up to 99% (r²=0.99) of the temperature variability. The peat flux relationship for the unamended samples was also significant (p<0.05) and could explain up to 85% (r²=0.85) of the temperature variability.



Figure 4.1. Temperature variability of mean unamended and mean amended peat fluxes at constant 50% volumetric moisture content; best-fit linear or quadratic trend lines are shown.

As with the temperature-dependent carbon flux trends, the CO₂ production rates for every 10°C rise in temperature (Q₁₀) differed between the two sample types. Three different increases of 10°C in amended and unamended peat (5-15°C, 10-20°C, 15-25°C) were separately averaged and compared (Figure 4.2; Table 4.2). For the unamended samples, an increase of 10°C resulted in an increase of CO₂ emission rates by an average of 3.3 times. In contrast, an increase of 10°C for the amended samples resulted in a lower increase of CO₂ emission rates, at an average of 1.9 times. The overall smaller range of the amended plot of Figure 4.2 suggests more consistent Q₁₀ values, reflected by the more linear response to temperature shown in Figure 4.1.

Table 4.2. Mean, median and standard error of Q_{10} values for unamended and amended peat samples

Quality	Mean	Median	Standard Error
Unamended	3.3	2.6	0.94
Amended	1.9	1.9	0.45



Figure 4.2. Q_{10} responses for amended and unamended samples at constant 50% volumetric moisture content. Bars range is the first and third quartile for Q_{10} . The median is indicated by the horizontal line.

The linear amended temperature relationship is further explored in the relationship between the isotopic fraction and temperature (Figure 4.3). Due to the multiple carbon pools contributing to the carbon flux in amended samples, the δ^{13} C-CO₂ was measured to partition between the lime added to the amended peat and the natural carbon emissions of the peat itself. A negative, non-

linear relationship between isotopic fraction and temperature was found. At cooler temperatures, a less negative isotopic fraction suggested a greater portion of the carbon emissions deriving from the lime pool (δ^{13} C-CO₂=2.5 ⁰/₀₀). As the temperature increased, the isotopic fraction became increasingly more negative, shifting towards the isotope signature of the natural peat component (δ^{13} C-CO₂= -25⁰/₀₀). This relationship is significant (p<0.05), with up to 75% of the isotopic variability explained by the temperature response (r² = 0.75).



Figure 4.3. Temperature sensitivities of isotopic fractionation of CO₂ for amended peat samples

The isotopic relationship between temperature and total CO_2 flux derived purely from the addition of lime to the amended samples followed a similar trend. As temperatures increased, the total lime-borne CO_2 flux increased as well. Figure 4.4 shows a positive, linear trend between increasing temperature and total lime flux. This relationship is significant (p<0.05), with up to 29% of the total lime flux variability explained by temperature ($r^2 = 0.29$).



Figure 4.4. Temperature sensitivities of total lime CO₂ flux for amended peat samples

4.3 Soil moisture sensitivities of peat decomposition

The different simulated moisture conditions did not produce the same consistent trend for peat decomposition as displayed for temperature. The amended samples generally showed a positive, increasing relationship between CO₂ emission and moisture content until 50% moisture content, then leveled off ($r^2=0.41$) (Figure 4.5). In contrast, the unamended samples had a weaker relationship, showing a general trend towards increasing peat flux with increased moisture content, though with greater variability at <50% moisture ($r^2=0.29$). While the individual trends did not demonstrate strong relationships between peat flux and moisture content, the peat flux overall was significantly (p<0.05) higher for the amended samples across all moisture levels.



Figure 4.5. Moisture variability of mean unamended and mean amended peat fluxes at constant 25°C temperature; best-fit trend lines are shown

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION

In this chapter, I will discuss the context of my results and offer plausible suggestions for the trends shown in the findings. I will begin by elaborating on the differences that arise in the biogeochemical properties of the natural and horticultural peat. I will then provide a framework supported by the isotopic analysis for understanding the temperature relationship for the amended samples and how it compares to the unamended samples. I will further discuss and contrast the responses to changing soil moisture between the two soil types, and then conclude with the implications of my findings in terms of assessing carbon efflux at Canadian horticultural sites.

5.1 Biogeochemical properties of natural and horticultural peat

As a whole, the soil properties of unamended samples were similar to the natural peat baselines found in previous studies. The SOM, pH, carbon content and % water of pure peat were within the expected range of values that have been reported previously for the same type of peat growth medium (Byrne et al., 2021; Biester et al., 2014). The properties of the amended samples were different, though deviated from the properties of the natural peat in a way that would be expected given their use as a growing media. The addition of lime and carbonate was likely responsible for lowering both the fraction of organic matter and corresponding carbon content of the amended soil samples relative to the natural baseline of the unamended samples. As expected, a similar effect was also shown in the overall higher pH values of the amended samples. The addition of dolomitic limestones to horticultural peat reflects the intentional buffering role of these additives for use as a growing media.

In contrast, both soil types reported lower density values than supported in the literature (Kitir et al., 2018). The lowering of the density of the samples is likely attributed to the mechanical alteration of the peat extraction process, reflected by the harrowing of the top surface of the peat samples taken from horticultural harvesting sites. By breaking up the peat in the top 3-4 cm through harrowing, the hydraulic conductivity between the layers of the peat is broken and density of the samples is reduced. The density of the amended samples was significantly higher than the amended samples, likely due to the addition of denser mineral material.

As predicted, the two sample types also differed in their degree of decomposition. Notably, the overall clear distinction for the two sample types was highlighted in their respective humification index and C:N ratios. The C:N ratio of the horticultural peat samples was within the range of other peat types used for growing media, likely as a result of the addition of minerals in the samples that supplied an additional source of nitrogen (Byrne et al., 2021). The overall lower C:N ratio displayed in the amended samples suggests a larger proportion of the sample mass was lost through the consumption of C-rich substances and CO₂ release via microbial respiration, while the higher humification index value supports this as a secondary means of assessing the greater degree of peat decomposition in the amended samples. Ultimately, the differences in soil properties of the unamended and amended samples follow expected trends and support the underlying assumption of the differences in their response to changing temperature and moisture.

5.2 Effect of temperature on CO₂ flux

As with the key biogeochemical properties, the unamended peat showed a temperature response similar to that reported in the literature. As expected, the relationship followed a positive, non-linear response to increased temperatures. The mean Q_{10} value of the unamended samples (3.3), however, was higher than the corresponding literature value of approximately 2.2 (Moore & Dalva, 1993). This may in part be skewed by the larger increase in peat flux between 15-25°C ($Q_{10} = 5.2$) (Figures 1 and 2). The overall variability of the Q_{10} values between the different temperature ranges may also in part be explained by the limitation of substrate availability at higher temperatures. As the soils become warmer and drier, the decreased rates of solute diffusion enhance the substrate limitation and limit the temperature sensitivity.

Contrary to the natural peat, the amended samples revealed key differences in CO_2 peat flux in response to increasing temperature, reflecting differences in the makeup of the amended peat substrates. The overall response in the amended samples showed a linear increase to rising temperatures and a significantly reduced Q_{10} response relative to the unamended peat (Figure 1-left panel and Figure 2). The lime contribution in the amended samples appeared to linearize the overall CO_2 flux trend and reduce the rate of CO_2 emissions (Figure 1). Without the consideration of the lime contribution, this may have falsely been interpreted as difference in microbial respiration between the two sample types. Rather, the isotopic data provided a

framework for understanding the response to increased temperature for peat utilized as a growing media. At lower temperatures, the CO₂-C isotopic signature was more positive, indicating a greater portion of the total CO₂ being lime-derived (Figure 3). As temperature increased, the overall isotopic fraction shifted away from the isotopic signature of the lime carbon pool and towards the peat carbon pool, reflecting a rise in biological activity in the peat at higher temperatures and overall increased microbial respiration. From this, I can speculate that the limeborne carbon pool dominates at lower temperatures in horticultural peat in the absence of favorable temperature conditions for microbial activity.

In Figure 4, the presence of lime-borne carbon as a significant portion of total carbon efflux in horticultural soils was confirmed. At higher temperatures, the relative increase of lime-derived CO_2 flux was likely a result of limestone weathering, which increases constantly with temperature. Within the individual samples, there was a great degree of variability at each temperature point. This may in part be due to the lime not being well distributed through the peat profile. Given the relatively small sample (5 g of soil for each incubation), the samples may have had varying degrees of lime distribution, leading to greater variability within the individual points.

Ultimately, I can speculate that the addition of lime to the peat used as a growing media decreased the Q_{10} response and linearized the otherwise exponential relationship of natural peat in the unamended samples (Figures 1 and 2). The CO₂ flux response of the amended samples deviated due to the perturbation brought on by the lime addition; the total flux consisted of the exponential rate of decomposition driven by microbial respiration in addition to the linear, chemical weathering process of the lime. Thus, I propose that the agricultural lime applied to peat used as a growing media both directly contributes to the total CO₂ flux and modifies the peat's response to temperature. It would therefore be incorrect to assume a standard temperature relationship for all peat decomposition.

5.3 Effect of moisture on CO₂ flux

The relationship between varying soil moisture and peat respiration response did not produce a clear pattern for the natural peat samples. My results deviated from the conventional relationship outlined by Skopp et al. (1990) where microbial activity peaks at an optimal volumetric moisture content where substrate diffusion and oxygen supply are equal. Based on the results and the methodology of my study, it is likely that the aerobic conditions present in my sample incubations eliminated the impedance of oxygen into the peat by water. The large volume of oxygen relative to peat mass (5 g) in the headspace of my incubations may be the primary explanation for the lack of clear decline in peat flux beyond the "optimal" moisture conditions for microbial activity shown in Figure 5. The overall pattern instead shows a relative increase in respiration up to a moisture level of 60% as the soil is provided with the necessary conditions for microbial respiration before leveling off slightly without a clear decline beyond this level due to a lack of unfavorable conditions.

For the amended samples, an assessment of the results is more challenging. Existing studies have only focused on the relationship between moisture and respiration in natural peatlands and therefore a reference for the conventional behavior of horticultural peat does not exist. My results showed an overall lack of a clear relationship, with a slight positive association between increasing moisture levels and peat flux. Another critical point to consider is the length of my incubations in the study. Samples were only prepared to be studied over one week-long experiment at each moisture level. In both the unamended and amended samples, I would expect a clearer pattern to emerge in longer-term incubations with greater time for microbial activity to take place. As a whole, my findings, while significant, should be considered with caution for transferability. The results of my moisture control study are conditional to the methodology I employed and cannot be applied for peat in anaerobic conditions or beyond short-term experiments.

5.4 Implications for Canadian horticultural peat practices

Going forward, I suggest the incorporation of isotopic analysis of both amended and biotic carbon pools within carbon balance studies in order to more accurately determine total emissions

at horticultural sites. The differences in temperature response between natural and amended peat show a non-standard decomposition process across all peat types; the direct lime-borne CO₂ emissions resulting from the horticultural additives are an additional carbon source that must be accounted for. While the largest fraction of greenhouse gas emissions related to peat extraction comes from the decomposition of peat over time, the relative contributions from the carbon pool associated with the horticultural additives provides a framework for challenging the assumptions of standard temperature and moisture responses across both natural and horticultural peat types. This further highlights the importance in distinguishing between the natural processes that govern peat decomposition and those attributed to horticultural additivities that should be considered in overall greenhouse gas emission models of active horticultural sites.

CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION

This study presented an overview of the processes that govern CO₂ emissions from active horticultural peat sites. By performing laboratory-based incubations and analyses, I demonstrated that horticultural additives, specifically lime, may decrease the rate of decomposition of amended soils under increasing temperatures. While changing moisture contents did not produce clear CO₂ flux-response patterns, further long-term incubations and the introduction of anaerobic conditions would provide more clarity in terms of the water moisture content relationship for horticultural soils. Going forward, more CO₂ flux measurements from active horticultural sites will be necessary to allow for transferability of the temperature and moisture relationships shown in my study.

By showing the overall lime-borne carbon fluxes partitioned from the biotic carbon fluxes, I suggest that the greenhouse gas potential of horticultural sites may be underestimated if additives are not considered in the net carbon balance. The separation of biotic and lime-derived mineralization of carbon will have further implications for the Canadian peat industry and marks a key distinction to be further studied for carbon taxing and budgeting purposes. Under the existing IPCC assumption that 100% of extracted peat is returned to the atmosphere as CO₂, the interactions of horticultural additive-borne carbon sources may require a re-thinking to this traditional approach and should be factored into national carbon budgets.

REFERENCE LIST

- Basiliko, N., Blodau, C., Roehm, C., Bengtson, P., & Moore, T. R. (2007). Regulation of decomposition and methane dynamics across natural, commercially mined, and restored northern peatlands. *Ecosystems*, 10(7), 1148-1165.
- Bertrand, I., Delfosse, O., & Mary, B. (2007). Carbon and nitrogen mineralization in acidic, limed and calcareous agricultural soils: Apparent and actual effects. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 39(1), 276-288.
- Biasi, C., Lind, S. E., Pekkarinen, N. M., Huttunen, J. T., Shurpali, N. J., Hyvönen, N. P., . . .
 Martikainen, P. J. (2008). Direct experimental evidence for the contribution of lime to CO₂ release from managed peat soil. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 40(10), 2660-2669.
- Biester, H., Knorr, K. H., Schellekens, J., Basler, A., & Hermanns, Y. M. (2014). Comparison of different methods to determine the degree of peat decomposition in peat bogs. *Biogeosciences*, 11(10), 2691-2707.
- Bona, K. A., Shaw, C., Thompson, D. K., Hararuk, O., Webster, K., Zhang, G., . . . Kurz, W. A. (2020). The Canadian model for peatlands (CaMP): A peatland carbon model for national greenhouse gas reporting. *Ecological Modelling*, 431.
- Bridgham, S. D., Johnston, C. A., Pastor, J., & Updegraff, K. (1995). Potential Feedbacks of Northern Wetlands on Climate Change. *BioScience*, *45*(4), 262-274
- Bridgham, S. D., Updegraff, K., & Pastor, J. (1998). Carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus mineralization in northern wetlands. *Ecology*, *79*(5), 1545-1561
- Broder, T., Blodau, C., Biester, H., & Knorr, K.-H. (2012). Peat decomposition records in three pristine ombrotrophic bogs in southern Patagonia. *Biogeosciences*, *9*(4), 1479-1491.
- Byrne, K. A., Efretuei, A., Walz, K., & Clay, G. D. (2021). Characterization of elemental ratios and oxidative ratio of horticultural peat. *Soil Use and Management*, *37*(3), 640-647.

- Canadian Sphagnum Peat Moss Association (CSPMA). (2017). *Peat and peatland statistics*. https://peatmoss.com/peat-moss-industry-figures/
- Cleary, J., Roulet, N. T., & Moore, T. R. (2005). Greenhouse gas emissions from Canadian peat extraction, 1990-2000: A life-cycle analysis. *Ambio*, *34*(6), 456-461.
- Davidson, E. A., & Janssens, I. A. (2006). Temperature sensitivity of soil carbon decomposition and feedbacks to climate change. *Nature*, *440*(7081), 165-173.
- Environment and Climate Change Canada. (2021). *Canadian climate normals 1981-2010 station data*. Available from https://climate.weather.gc.ca/climate_normals/[accessed 19 November 2021].
- Glatzel, S., N. Basiliko & T.R. Moore (2004). Carbon dioxide and methane production potentials of peats from natural, harvested and restored sites, eastern Québec, Canada. *Wetlands, 24*(2), 261.
- Glatzel, S., Kalbitz, K., Dalva, M., & Moore, T. (2003). Dissolved organic matter properties and their relationship to carbon dioxide efflux from restored peat bogs. *Geoderma*, *113*(3), 397-411.
- Gorham, E. (1991). Northern Peatlands: Role in the Carbon Cycle and Probable Responses to Climatic Warming. *Ecological Applications*, *1*(2), 182-195.
- Hugron, S., Bussières, J. and Rochefort, L. (2013). Tree plantations within the context of
 ecological restoration of peatlands: a practical guide, Peatland Ecology Research Group,
 Université Laval, Québec. 88 pages
- Kechavarzi, C., Dawson, Q., Bartlett, M., & Leeds-Harrison, P. B. (2010). The role of soil moisture, temperature and nutrient amendment on CO₂ efflux from agricultural peat soil microcosms. *Geoderma*, 154(3-4), 203-210.
- Keeling, C. D. (1958). The concentration and isotopic abundances of atmospheric carbon dioxide in rural areas. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, *13*(4), 322-334.

- Kitir, N., Yildirim, E., Şahin, Ü., Turan, M., Ekinci, M., Ors, S., Kul, R., Ünlü, H., & Ünlü, H. (2018).Peat use in horticulture. In *Peat*. IntechOpen.
- Li, Q., Leroy, F., Zocatelli, R., Gogo, S., Jacotot, A., Guimbaud, C., & Laggoun-Défarge, F. (2021). Abiotic and biotic drivers of microbial respiration in peat and its sensitivity to temperature change. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 153, 108077.
- Lloyd, J., & Taylor, J. A. (1994). On the Temperature Dependence of Soil Respiration. *Functional Ecology*, 8(3), 315-323.
- McNeil, P., & Waddington, J. M. (2003). Moisture controls on Sphagnum growth and CO2 exchange on a cutover bog. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *40*(2), 354-367.
- Moore, T. R. (1994). Trace gas emissions from Canadian peatlands and the effect of climatic change. *Wetlands*, *14*(3), 223-228.
- Moore, T. R., & Dalva, M. (1993). The influence of temperature and water-table position on carbondioxide and methane emissions from laboratory columns of peatland soils. *Journal of Soil Science, 44*(4), 651-664.
- Moore, T. R., & Dalva, M. (1997). Methane and carbon dioxide exchange potentials of peat soils in aerobic and anaerobic laboratory incubations. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *29*(8), 1157-1164
- Petrone, R. M., Waddington, J. M., & Price, J. S. (2003). Ecosystem-scale flux of CO₂ from a restored vacuum harvested peatland. *Wetlands Ecology and Management*, 11(6), 419-432.
- Roulet, N. T. (2000). Peatlands, carbon storage, greenhouse gases, and the Kyoto Protocol: Prospects and significance for Canada. *Wetlands*, 20(4), 605-615.
- Skopp, J., Jawson, M. D., & Doran, J. W. (1990). Steady-state aerobic microbial activity as a function of soil-water content. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 54(6), 1619-1625.
- Strack, M. (2011). Dissolved organic carbon production and runoff quality following peatland extraction and restoration. *Ecological Engineering*, *37*(12), 1998.

- Vitt, D. H. (1994). An overview of factors that influence the development of Canadian peatlands. *Memoirs of the Entomological Society of Canada, 126*(S169), 7-20.
- Waddington, J. M., & Price, J. S. (2000). Effect of peatland drainage, harvesting, and restoration on atmospheriv water and carbon exchange. *Physical Geography*, *21*(5), 433-451.
- Wang, X., Li, X., Hu, Y., Lv, J., Sun, J., Li, Z., & Wu, Z. (2010). Effect of temperature and moisture on soil organic carbon mineralization of predominantly permafrost peatland in the Great Hing'an Mountains, Northeastern China. *Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 22(7), 1057-1066.
- Weiping, Z., Dafeng, H., & Weijun, S. (2014). Effects of soil moisture on the temperature sensitivity of soil heterotrophic respiration: a laboratory incubation study. *PLoS ONE*, 9(3).